	Case 3:17-cv-02447-SK Docume	nt 1 Filed 04/28/17 Page 1 of 19				
1 2 3 4 5 6 7	Brian J. Soo-Hoo, Esq. (SBN 228298) <u>soohoolaw@gmail.com</u> <b>LAW OFFICES OF BRIAN J. SOO-</b> 601 Parkcenter Drive, Suite 105 Santa Ana, California 92705 Tel: (714) 589-2252/Fax: (714) 589-22 Attorneys for Plaintiff					
8	UNITED STAT	ES DISTRICT COURT				
9	NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA					
10						
11 12	ANTHONY GILBERT SANTOS, individually and on behalf of a class of similarly situated individuals,	Case No.:				
13	Plaintiff,	CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT				
14	V.					
15						
16	CARMAX, INC., a Virginia corporation; CARMAX AUTO					
17	SUPERSTORES CALIFORNIA, LLC, a Virginia limited liability	DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL				
18	company; CARMAX BUSINESS SERVICES, LLC, a Virginia limited					
19	liability company; CARMAX AUTO SUPERSTORES WEST COAST,					
20	INC., a Virginia corporation; and					
21	DOES 1 to 50, inclusive,					
22	Defendants.					
23						
24						
25 26						
20						
28						
20	1					
	CLASS ACTION	ON COMPLAINT				

1

Plaintiff Anthony Gilbert Santos ("Santos") brings this class action complaint against Defendants CarMax, Inc., CarMax Auto Superstores California, LLC, CarMax Business Services, LLC, CarMax Auto Superstores West Coast, Inc., and Does 1 to 50, inclusive (collectively referred to as "CarMax" or "Defendants"), to recover damages for himself and those similarly situated caused by Defendants' failure to disclose the status of any and all active safety recalls for vehicles Defendants sell to consumers despite advertising CarMax's 125 point "CarMax Certified Quality Inspection." Santos brings this action to compel CarMax to stop its unlawful practices and to obtain redress for all persons injured by CarMax's conduct. On information and belief, including investigation conducted by his attorneys, Santos alleges as follows:

#### JURISDICTION, VENUE, AND INTRADISTRICT ASSIGNMENT

1. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331, as the action arises from a federal statute, the Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act (15 U.S.C. § 2301*et seq.*). Moreover, this Court has jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1332, as amended by the Class Action Fairness Act of 2005.

2. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants because Defendants, and each of them, do business in this District, is registered to do business in California (and nationwide), and a substantial number of the events giving rise to the claims alleged herein took place in California.

3. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) because Defendant does business in this District and a substantial number of the events giving rise to the claims alleged herein took place in this District.

4. This case is properly brought in the Oakland Division of the Northern District of California. Pursuant to Local Rule 3-2(c), cases are to be filed in the Division "in which a substantial part of the events or omissions which give rise to the claim occurred." A substantial portion of the events giving rise to this action occurred within Alameda County, which, pursuant to Local Rule 3-2(d), makes either the San Francisco or Oakland Divisions the proper division for this action.

#### **PARTIES**

5. Plaintiff Anthony Gilbert Santos is a citizen and resident of California who resides in Alameda County.

6. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Defendant CarMax, Inc. is now, and at all times mentioned in this Complaint was a corporation organized pursuant to the laws of the State of Virginia with its principal place of business in Richmond, Virginia. Plaintiff is further informed and believes that Defendant CarMax, Inc. conducts business within the State of California, including within this District.

7. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Defendant CarMax Auto Superstores California, LLC is now, and at all times mentioned in this Complaint was a limited liability company organized pursuant to the laws of the State of Virginia with its principal place of business in Richmond, Virginia. Plaintiff is further informed and believes that Defendant CarMax Auto Superstore California, LLC conducts business within the State of California, including within this District.

8. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Defendant CarMax Business Services, LLC is now, and at all times mentioned in this Complaint was a limited liability company organized pursuant to the laws of the State of Virginia with its principal place of business in Richmond, Virginia. Plaintiff is further informed and believes that Defendant CarMax Business Services, LLC conducts business within the State of California, including within this District.

9. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Defendant CarMax Auto Superstores West Coast, Inc. is now, and at all times mentioned in this Complaint is a corporation organized pursuant to the laws of the State of Virginia with its principal place of business in Richmond, Virginia. Plaintiff is further informed and

1

believes that Defendant CarMax Auto Superstores West Coast, Inc. conducts business
 within the State of California, including within this District.

10. The Defendants listed in paragraphs 6-9, and any applicable Doe defendants, are referred to herein as "CarMax" or "Defendants."

11. The names and capacities of Defendants Does 1-50 are unknown to Plaintiff at the time of the filing of this complaint. Plaintiff will move to amend this complaint to show the true names and capacities of Defendants sued as "Doe" once the same are ascertained. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that each of the Defendants including the defendants sued herein as "Doe" was, at all times relevant, the agent, servant, partner or joint venture of each of the other defendants and was acting within the course and scope of such agency and employment or in furtherance of the business of such joint venture or partnership and with the permission and consent, express or implied of each other Defendants.

12. At all times mentioned in this complaint, Defendants and Does 1-50 were engaged in the business of marketing, distributing and selling motor vehicles and related component parts either directly or through the avenues of commerce to members of the general public.

#### **COMMON ALLEGATIONS OF FACT**

13. CarMax is a nationwide automotive retailer that sells used cars directly to consumers. As part of its business, CarMax informs consumers that it performs a detailed vehicle inspection prior to completion of the sale. CarMax refers to this process as its "125 Point Inspection." Accordingly, CarMax represents that the used cars it sells to consumers have passed a rigorous inspection, thereby explicitly and implicitly warranting that they are free from defects.

14. For several years, the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration ("NHTSA") has initiated and administered safety recalls for vehicles and their

components. Those safety recalls often involve notifying vehicle owners of a problem 1 and the steps to remediate it.

15. Despite CarMax's supposedly rigorous inspection, CarMax failed to inform consumers about active safety recalls pending for the vehicles CarMax sold. That was true even where the recall involved a serious safety problem, such as spontaneous combustion.

Plaintiff Santos was directly injured by this practice. In 2006, Plaintiff 16. purchased and/or leased a 2002 Ford F-150 pickup from a CarMax location in California bearing VIN number 1FTRW07682KE25148 (referred to hereafter as "Plaintiff's vehicle").

17. Unbeknownst to Plaintiff, and undisclosed by CarMax, was the fact that, at the time of Plaintiff's purchase, Plaintiff's vehicle was subject to an active safety recall for its speed control deactivation switch ("SCDS"). On January 27, 2005-over a year before Plaintiff purchased the vehicle from CarMax—a recall for the SCDS was initiated under NHTSA recall number 05V017000.

The recall indicated that the SCDS could "overheat, smoke, or burn," and 18. therefore presented the "safety risk" of a fire, even a fire starting "while the vehicles were parked with the ignition 'off." The safety recall notice therefore advised that vehicle owners should visit the dealerships to have the switch deactivated, and, once replacement parts were available, to have a new SCDS installed free of charge.

19. CarMax did not take any of those steps prior to selling the vehicle to Plaintiff. On information and belief, CarMax did not take any steps to determine whether the SCDS had been deactivated or replaced on Plaintiff's vehicle. Further, CarMax did not advise Plaintiff of the open safety recall or of any steps he should take to mitigate the danger posed by the SCDS.

On April 29, 2014, Plaintiff's vehicle caught fire while the engine was off 20. and parked in Plaintiff's driveway as a result of the defective SCDS. Plaintiff's vehicle was completely destroyed as a result of the fire.

21. Plaintiff would not have purchased the vehicle in the condition in which CarMax sold it had he been informed of the need to repair the vehicle as advised by the active safety recall. Prior to the fire, Plaintiff was wholly unaware that his vehicle was subject to a active safety recall, that CarMax had failed to disclose this fact to him at the time of his purchase, and that CarMax failed to take any steps to repair the vehicle as indicated by the safety recall despite CarMax's representations about its vehicle inspection program.

## **CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS**

22. As noted above, and pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(b)(2) and (b)(3), Plaintiff brings this action on behalf of himself and the following proposed classes, defined as follows:

#### Nationwide Class

All persons in the United States and its territories who purchased a vehicle from CarMax that was the subject of a safety recall but had not been repaired prior to the sale.

## <u>California Class</u>

All persons who, in the State of California, purchased a vehicle from CarMax that was the subject of a safety recall but had not been repaired prior to the sale.

23. Upon information and belief, there are hundreds, if not thousands, of members of each class. Joinder of all members is therefore impracticable.

24. Common questions of law and fact exist as to all class members such that those questions predominate over questions affecting Plaintiff or individual class members. These common questions include, but are not limited to, the following:

a. Did CarMax sell or lease vehicles to consumers that were subject to a recall?

1	b. Did CarMax know that it had sold or leased and was selling or				
2	leasing vehicles to consumers that were subject to a recall?				
3	c. Did CarMax take any steps to ameliorate the problem that was the				
4	subject of any recall prior to selling or leasing any vehicle to				
5	consumers?				
6	d. Did CarMax fail to inform consumers of pending recalls for				
7	vehicles sold by CarMax?				
8	e. Did CarMax fail to inform consumers of additional steps needed to				
9	correct any issue for any vehicle was subject to a recall?				
10	f. Did CarMax's representations about its vehicle inspection process				
11	expressly or impliedly warrant that the vehicles were free from				
12	defects like those identified in automotive recalls?				
13	g. Did CarMax's conduct violate consumer protection statutes, false				
14	advertising laws, sales contracts, warranty laws, or any other law				
15	asserted herein?				
16	h. Did consumers overpay CarMax for their vehicles that were subject				
17	to a recall at the time they were purchased?				
18	i. Are Plaintiff and class members entitled to equitable relief,				
19	including, but not limited to, injunctive relief and restitution?				
20	j. Are Plaintiff and class members entitled to damages or any other				
21	monetary relief, and, if so, in what amount?				
22	25. As allegedly herein, Defendants acted and failed to act on grounds				
23	generally applicable to Plaintiff and other class members. Such conduct requires the				
24	Court's imposition of uniform relief to ensure compatible standards of conduct toward				
25	class members and to make injunctive or corresponding declaratory relief appropriate				
26	for all class members.				
27					
28					
	7				
	CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT				

26. The factual and legal bases of Defendants' liability to Plaintiff and each class member are the same, resulting in injury to Plaintiff and each class member as a result of Defendants' conduct described herein.

27. Defendants have acted or failed to act on grounds generally applicable to Plaintiff and members of the proposed classes, thereby making final injunctive and declaratory relief, as described below, appropriate.

28. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately represent and protect the interests of other class members. Plaintiff has retained counsel with substantial experience in litigating complex cases, including class actions. Both Plaintiff and his counsel will vigorously prosecute this action on behalf of the class and have the financial ability to do so. Neither Plaintiff nor counsel has any interest adverse to other class members.

29. Most class members would find the costs of litigating their claims prohibitive and therefore would have no effective remedy without a class action. Further, class treatment of common questions of law and fact is superior to multiple, individual litigation or piecemeal adjudication because it preserves the resources of the courts and litigants as well as promotes consistent and efficiency of adjudication.

## **FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION**

## Violation of the Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act (15 U.S.C. § 2301 et seq.)

30. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the foregoing allegations as if fully set forth herein.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

31. This cause of action is asserted on behalf of the Nationwide Class.

32. Plaintiff is a "consumer" within the meaning of 15 U.S.C. § 2301(3).

33. Defendants are "suppliers" and "warrantors" within the meaning of 15 U.S.C. § 2301(4) and (5).

26 34. Plaintiff's vehicle is a "consumer product" within the meaning of 15
27 U.S.C. § 2013(1).

28

15 U.S.C. § 2301(d)(1) provides a cause of action for any consumer who 35. is damaged by the failure of a warrantor to comply with a written or implied warranty.

36. Defendants' express warranties are written warranties within the meaning of the 15 U.S.C. § 2301(6), and Defendants' implied warranties are covered by 15 U.S.C. § 2301(7).

37. At the time of sale or lease of each vehicle, Defendants knew, or should have known, or was reckless in not knowing, about the misrepresentations and omissions alleged herein. Under the circumstances, remedies available under any informal settlement procedure would be inadequate and any requirement that Plaintiff resort to informal dispute resolution and/or offer Defendants an opportunity to cure their breaches of warranties is excused and thereby deemed satisfied.

38. Plaintiff and class members would suffer economic hardship if they returned the affected vehicles but did not receive return of any payment(s) made. Plaintiff and class members have not re-accepted their vehicles by retaining them.

39. The amount in controversy for Plaintiff's individual claims meets or exceeds the sum of \$25. The amount in controversy or this action exceeds the sum of \$50,000, exclusive of interest and costs, computed on the basis of all claims to be determined in this lawsuit.

40. Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of the class, seeks all damages permitted by law, including loss of use and diminution of value, in an amount to be proven at trial.

#### **SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION**

## Violation of California's Unfair Competition Law (Bus. & Prof. § 17200)

41. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the foregoing allegations as if fully set forth herein.

42. Plaintiff brings this count on behalf of the California class. 43. California's Unfair Competition Law, codified at Business and Professions Code section 17200 *et seq.*, prohibits acts of unfair competition, including "any unlawful, unfair or fraudulent business practice and unfair, deceptive, untrue or misleading advertising."

44. Defendants' conduct violates the UCL in at least the following ways:

- By concealing the existence of ongoing recalls from consumers, including Plaintiff and class members;
- b. By promoting CarMax's rigorous inspection notwithstanding the company's failure to disclose whether vehicles are subject to an ongoing recall;
- c. By failing to disclose material information in violation of Section 5(a) of the Federal Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S.C. section 45(a);
- d. By violating California's false advertising and other consumer protection statutes.

45. Defendants' misrepresentations and omissions caused Plaintiff and class members to purchase or lease affected vehicles. Absent those misrepresentations and omissions, Plaintiff and class members would not have purchased or leased the affected vehicles, would not have purchased or leased the affected vehicles at the prices they paid, and/or would have purchased or leased less expensive, alternative vehicles that were not subject to safety recalls.

46. Accordingly, Plaintiff and class members suffered injury in fact, including lost money or property, as a result of Defendants' misrepresentations and omissions.

47. Plaintiff seeks to enjoin further unlawful and unfair acts by Defendants.

48. Plaintiff requests that this Court enjoin Defendants from continuing its unlawful and unfair business practices and to restore to Plaintiff and class members any money it acquired by unfair competition, including any restitution and/or disgorgement, as provided by the UCL.

#### **THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION**

#### Violation of California's False Advertising Law (Bus. & Prof. § 17500)

49. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the foregoing allegations as if fully set forth herein.

50. Plaintiff brings this action on behalf of the California Class.

51. California's False Advertising Law, codified at Business and Professions Code § 17500 *et seq.*, prohibits advertising products using untrue or misleading statements that the speaker knows or should know are untrue or misleading.

52. Defendants caused to be made or disseminated through California and the United States, through advertising, marketing, and other publications, untrue or misleading statements that Defendants knew, or, by the exercise of reasonable care, should have known, were untrue or misleading to consumers, including Plaintiff and class members.

53. Defendants' representations concerning its rigorous inspection and failure to divulge information about active safety recalls for vehicles Defendants sold or leased without correcting the subject of the safety recall were material and likely to deceive a reasonable consumer.

54. Plaintiff and class members suffered injury in fact, including the loss of money or property, as a result of Defendants' unlawful, unfair, or deceptive practices. Absent Defendants' misrepresentations and omissions, Plaintiff and class members would not have purchased or leased the affected vehicles, would not have purchased or leased the affected vehicles at the prices they paid, and/or would have purchased or leased less expensive, alternative vehicles that were not subject to safety recalls.

55. Defendants have not remediated their wrongful conduct, which is part of a pattern or generalized course of conduct repeated and perpetuated in California and nationwide.

56. Plaintiff requests that this Court enjoin Defendants from continuing its unlawful and unfair business practices and to restore to Plaintiff and class members any money it acquired by unfair competition, including any restitution and/or disgorgement.

#### **FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION**

#### Violation of Consumer Legal Remedies Act (Cal. Civ. Code § 1750)

57. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the foregoing allegations as if fully set forth herein.

58. Plaintiff brings this count on behalf of the California Class.

59. California's Consumer Legal Remedies Act, codified at Civil Code § 1750 *et seq.*, prohibits unfair methods of competition and unfair or deceptive acts or practices undertaken by any person in a transaction intended to result or which results in the sale or lease of goods or services to any consumer.

60. The vehicles at issue are "goods" within the meaning of Civil Code § 1761(a).

61. Plaintiff and other class members are "consumers" within the meaning of Civil Code § 1761(d).

62. Plaintiff, class members, and Defendants are each "persons" within the meaning of Civil Code § 1761(c).

63. As alleged herein, Defendants made misrepresentations and omissions concerning their rigorous inspection of the vehicles they sold and the fact that vehicles they sold or leased to consumers were subject to an active safety recall at the time of the sale or lease.

64. Defendants' conduct, as described herein, was and is in violation of at least the following enumerated prohibitions in Civil Code § 1770:

a. Civil Code §1770(a)(2): Misrepresenting the approval or certification of goods;

- b. Civil Code § 1770(a)(5): Representing that goods have sponsorship, approval, characteristics, uses, benefits, or quantities that they do not have;
- c. Civil Code § 1770(a)(7): Representing that goods are of a particular standard, quality, or grade, if they are another;
- d. Civil Code § 1770(a)(9): Advertising goods with the intent not to sell them as advertised;
- e. Civil Code § 1770(a)(16): Representing that goods have been supplied in accordance with a previous representation when they have not.

65. Plaintiff and class members suffered injury in fact and actual damages resulting from Defendants' material misrepresentations and omissions because they paid an inflated purchase or lease price for the vehicles and/or would not have purchased or leased the vehicles had they known of Defendants' misrepresentations and omissions.

66. Defendants knew, or should have known, or were reckless in not knowing, that the vehicles they sold or leased were subject to active recalls at the time they were sold or leased.

67. Defendants' misrepresentations and omissions caused Plaintiff and class members to purchase or lease affected vehicles. Absent those misrepresentations and omissions, Plaintiff and class members would not have purchased or leased the affected vehicles, would not have purchased or leased the affected vehicles at the prices they paid, and/or would have purchased or leased less expensive, alternative vehicles that were not subject to safety recalls.

68. Pursuant to Civil Code § 1780(a), Plaintiff seeks injunctive relief.

69. Although Plaintiff does not seek to recover damages at this time, Plaintiff will seek leave to amend this complaint.

#### **FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION**

Breach of Implied Warranty of Merchantability (Cal. Com. Code § 2314)

70. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the foregoing allegations as if fully set forth herein.

71. Plaintiff brings this count on behalf of the California Class.

72. Defendants were and are at all relevant times merchants with respect to motor vehicles pursuant to California Commercial Code § 2014.

73. California Commercial Code § 2314 provides that there is an implied warranty that the vehicles Defendants sold and leased to Plaintiff and class members were in a merchantable condition. However, the affected vehicles were not in a merchantable condition when sold and leased, and at all times thereafter, and were not fit for the ordinary purpose for which vehicles are used. Specifically, the vehicles were the subject of safety recalls, but the existence of those recalls was not disclosed to consumers nor were steps taken to correct the dangerous condition that was the subject of the safety recall prior to the sale or lease.

74. Defendants knew or should have known that the vehicles they sold were subject to active safety recalls.

75. As a direct and proximate cause of Defendants' breach of warranty of merchantability, Plaintiff and class members were damaged in an amount to be proven at trial.

76. Attached hereto is a declaration required by California Civil Code section 1780(d).

## **SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION**

# Violation of the Song-Beverly Consumer Warranty Act for Breach of Implied Warranty of Merchantability (Cal. Civ. Code §§ 1791.1 & 1792)

7 77. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the foregoing allegations as if
8 fully set forth herein.

78. Plaintiff brings this count on behalf of the California Class.

79. Plaintiff and class members who purchased or leased vehicles from Defendants are "buyers" within the meaning of California Civil Code § 1791(b).

80. The affected vehicles are "consumer goods" within the meaning of California Civil Code § 1791(a).

81. Defendants are "retailers" within the meaning of California Civil Code § 1791(*l*).

82. Defendants impliedly warranted to Plaintiff and class members that the affected vehicles were "merchantable" within the meaning of California Civil Code §§ 1791.1(a) and 1792. Contrary to Defendants' implied warranty, the affected vehicles do not have the quality a buyer would reasonably expect. Additionally, the affected vehicles would not pass without objection in the trade under the contract description, be fit for the ordinary purpose for which vehicles are used, nor conform to promises or affirmations of fact made about them by Defendants.

83. Defendants breached the implied warranty of merchantability by selling and leasing vehicles subject to recalls. Defendants' breaches caused Plaintiff and class members to not receive the benefit of their bargain.

84. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants' breach of the implied warranty of merchantability, Plaintiff and class members bought or leased goods in a defective condition such that their value was significantly impaired. Plaintiff and class members have been damaged as a result of the diminished value of their vehicles, the vehicle's malfunction, and the loss of use of their vehicles.

85. Pursuant to California Civil Code §§ 1791.1(d) and 1794, Plaintiff and class members are entitled to damages and other legal and equitable relief, including, at their election, the purchase price of their vehicles, or the overpayment or diminution in value of their vehicles.

86. Pursuant to California Civil Code § 1794, Plaintiff and class members are
entitled to costs and attorneys' fees.

#### **SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION**

#### **Breach of Contract**

87. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the foregoing allegations as if fully set forth herein.

88. Plaintiff brings this count on behalf of the California Class.

89. Defendants' misrepresentations and omissions caused Plaintiff and class members to purchase or lease the affected vehicles. Had Defendants not made those representations and omissions, Plaintiff and class members would not have purchased or leased the affected vehicles, would not have purchased or leased the affected vehicles at the prices they paid, and/or would have purchased or leased less expensive, alternative vehicles that were not subject to safety recalls. Accordingly, Plaintiff and class members overpaid for their vehicles and did not receive the benefit of their bargain.

90. Every sale or lease of an affected vehicle constituted a contract between Defendants and the purchaser or lessee. Defendants breached those contracts by selling or leasing Plaintiff and class members defective vehicles and by misrepresenting or omitting that the vehicles were subject to recalls at the time of the purchase or lease, thereby rendering the vehicles less valuable and less safe than those not subject to safety recalls or which had been repaired in response to a recall.

91. As a direct and proximate cause of Defendants' breach of contract, Plaintiff and class members have been damaged in an amount to be proven at trial, including any available compensatory damages, incidental and consequential damages, and other damages allowed by law.

#### **EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION**

#### Exemplary Damages (Cal.Civ. Code § 3294)

92. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the foregoing allegations as if fully set forth herein. 93. Plaintiff brings this count on behalf of the California Class.

2 94. Defendants' conduct as alleged herein was knowing and malicious and
3 caused significant harm.

95. Defendants intentionally withheld information concerning active safety recalls for vehicles they sold or leased to consumers, took no steps to repair vehicles that were subject to safety recalls prior to selling or leasing them to consumers, and falsely advertised to consumers that the vehicles it sold or leased had passed rigorous inspections.

96. Defendants' conduct went on for years despite Defendants' knowledge of safety recalls and the consequences of their failure to disclose or take other appropriate action for such safety recalls despite the significant risk to safety for consumers.

97. Defendants' intentional deception and its safety-related impact warrant exemplary damages for the sake of example and to punish Defendants.

#### **PRAYER FOR RELIEF**

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of the class, prays for the following relief:

1. For an order certifying the class as defined above;

- 2. For an order temporarily and permanently enjoining Defendants from continuing their unlawful, fraudulent, and unfair business practices as alleged in this complaint
- 3. For injunctive and/or equitable relief in the form of buyback of the affected vehicles;
- 4. For any and all available damages available under applicable law, including compensatory, incidental, exemplary, and punitive damages;
  - 5. For reasonable attorney's fees and expenses;
- 6. For taxable costs;
- 7. For pre and post-judgment interest as allowed by law; and

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT

	Case 3:17-cv-02447-SK Document 1 Filed 04/28/17 Page 18 of 19						
1 2	8. For any other relief the Court deems just.						
3	JURY DEMAND						
4	Plaintiff requests trial by jury of all claims that are so triable.						
5							
6	Dated: April 27, 2017LAW OFFICES OF BRIAN J. SOO-HOO						
7							
8	By: /s/ Brian J. Soo-Hoo						
9	By: <u>/s/ Brian J. Soo-Hoo</u> Brian J. Soo-Hoo, Esq. Attorneys for Plaintiff						
10							
11							
12							
13							
14							
15							
16							
17							
18							
19							
20							
21							
22							
23 24							
24 25							
23 26							
20 27							
28							
_0	18						
	CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT						

DocuSign Envelop	De ID: 2FE86DC3-9FD7-4865-A2A0-1653AA06CA70 Case 3.17-CV-02447-SK Document 1 Filed 04/28/17 Page 19 of 19			
$\frac{1}{2}$	DECLARATION OF ANTHONY GILBERT SANTOS			
$\frac{2}{3}$				
4	I, ANTHONY GILBERT SANTOS, declare as follows:			
5	1. I am over 18 years of age and competent to make the following			
6	declaration. I have personal knowledge of the facts stated in this declaration and			
7	<ul><li>could competently testify thereto if called upon to do so.</li><li>2. I am the named Plaintiff in this case.</li></ul>			
8	<ol> <li>I am the named Plaintiff in this case.</li> <li>I submit this declaration pursuant to California Civil Code section</li> </ol>			
9	1780(d). On information and belief, Defendants do business in the County of			
10	Alameda, which is within the United States District Court for the Northern District of			
11	California.			
12 13				
13	I declare under penalty of perjury pursuant to the laws of the United States and			
15	the State of California that the foregoing is true and correct. Executed this <sup>27</sup> / <sub>2</sub> day of April, 2017 in <sup>Fremont</sup> / <sub>2</sub> , California.			
16				
17	Executed this day of April, 2017 in, California.			
18				
19	Anthony G. Santos			
20	1854F42A41A8435			
21 22	ANTHONY GILBERT SANTOS			
22 23				
23				
25				
26				
27				
28				
	19 CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT			

# JS 44 (Rev. 12/12) cand rev (1/15/13) Case 3:17-cv-02447-SK Document 1 to Filed 04/28/17 Page 1 of 1

The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replace nor supplement the filing and service of pleadings or other papers as required by law, except as provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet. *(SEE INSTRUCTIONS ON NEXT PAGE OF THIS FORM.)* 

I. (a) PLAINTIFFS Anthony Gilbert Santos			DEFENDANTS CARMAX, INC., CARMAX AUTO SUPERSTORES CALIFORNIA, LLC, a Virginia limited liability company; CARMAX BUSINESS			
(b) County of Residence of First Listed Plaintiff <u>Alameda County</u> (EXCEPT IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES)				SERVICES, LLC, CARMAX AUTO SUPERSTORES WEST COAST County of Residence of First Listed Defendant <u>Richmond</u> (IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES ONLY) NOTE: IN LAND CONDEMNATION CASES, USE THE LOCATION OF THE TRACT OF LAND INVOLVED.		
(c) Attorneys (Firm Name, 2 Law Offices of Brian J. So Ana, CA 92705, 714-589	po-Hoo, 601 Parkcente		Santa	Attorneys (If Known)		
II. BASIS OF JURISDI	CTION (Place an "X" in O	One Box Only)	III. CI	TIZENSHIP OF P	RINCIPAL PARTIES	(Place an "X" in One Box for Plaintiff
1 U.S. Government Plaintiff	3 Federal Question (U.S. Government)	Not a Party)			<b>FF DEF</b> 1 □ 1 Incorporated <i>or</i> Pr of Business In T	
2 U.S. Government Defendant	☐ 4 Diversity (Indicate Citizensh)	ip of Parties in Item III)			2 D 2 Incorporated and H of Business In A	Another State
				en or Subject of a 🛛 🗖	3 🗖 3 Foreign Nation	
IV. NATURE OF SUIT	1	*/	EO	ND F2F217211D F2/DF2N1A 1 (798/		OTHED CTATUTES
CONTRACT         110 Insurance         120 Marine         130 Miller Act         140 Negotiable Instrument         150 Recovery of Overpayment & Enforcement of Judgment         151 Medicare Act         152 Recovery of Defaulted Student Loans (Excludes Veterans)         153 Recovery of Overpayment of Veteran's Benefits         160 Stockholders' Suits	PERSONAL INJURY 310 Airplane 315 Airplane Product Liability 320 Assault, Libel & Slander 330 Federal Employers' Liability 340 Marine 345 Marine Product Liability 350 Motor Vehicle 355 Motor Vehicle	DRTS PERSONAL INJUR 365 Personal Injury – Product Liability 367 Health Care/ Pharmaceutical Personal Injury Product Liability 368 Asbestos Personal Injury Product Liability PERSONAL PROPEF 370 Other Fraud 371 Truth in Lending	Y □ 62. □ 69	PRFEITURE/PENALTY 5 Drug Related Seizure of Property 21 USC 881 0 Other UABOR 0 Fair Labor Standards Act 0 Labor/Management	BANKRUPTCY           422 Appeal 28 USC 158           423 Withdrawal           28 USC 157           PROPERTY RIGHTS           820 Copyrights           830 Patent           840 Trademark           SOCIAL SECURITY           861 HIA (1395ff)           862 Black Lung (923)           863 DIWC/DIWW (405(g))	OTHER STATUTES         375 False Claims Act         400 State Reapportionment         410 Antitrust         430 Banks and Banking         450 Commerce         460 Deportation         470 Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations         480 Consumer Credit         490 Cable/Sat TV         850 Securities/Commodities/ Exchange         890 Other Statutory Actions
Ioo Stockholder's Suits      190 Other Contract      195 Contract Product Liability      196 Franchise <b>REAL PROPERTY</b> 210 Land Condemnation      220 Foreclosure      230 Rent Lease & Ejectment      240 Torts to Land	<ul> <li>J35 Motor Venice Product Liability</li> <li>360 Other Personal Injury</li> <li>362 Personal Injury - Medical Malpractice</li> <li>CIVIL RIGHTS</li> <li>440 Other Civil Rights</li> <li>441 Voting</li> <li>442 Employment</li> <li>443 Housing/</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>3/1 Fruth in Lending</li> <li>380 Other Personal Property Damage</li> <li>385 Property Damage Product Liability</li> <li>PRISONER PETITION</li> <li>Habeas Corpus:</li> <li>463 Alien Detainee</li> <li>510 Motions to Vacate Sentence</li> </ul>	□ 74 □ 75 □ 79 <u>NS</u> □ 79	0 Labor/Management Relations 0 Railway Labor Act 1 Family and Medical Leave Act 0 Other Labor Litigation 1 Employee Retirement Income Security Act	Bos DiwCDIW (403(g))     Bos DiwCDIW (403(g))     Bos BSID Title XVI     Bos BSID (405(g))     FEDERAL TAX SUITS     870 Taxes (U.S. Plaintiff     or Defendant)     871 IRS—Third Party     26 USC 7609	<ul> <li>\$90 Other Statutory Actions</li> <li>\$91 Agricultural Acts</li> <li>\$93 Environmental Matters</li> <li>\$95 Freedom of Information Act</li> <li>\$96 Arbitration</li> <li>\$99 Administrative Procedure Act/Review or Appeal of Agency Decision</li> <li>\$950 Constitutionality of State Statutes</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>245 Tort Product Liability</li> <li>290 All Other Real Property</li> </ul>	Accommodations 445 Amer. w/Disabilities - Employment 446 Amer. w/Disabilities - Other 448 Education	<ul> <li>530 General</li> <li>535 Death Penalty</li> <li>Other:</li> <li>540 Mandamus &amp; Oth</li> <li>550 Civil Rights</li> <li>555 Prison Condition</li> <li>560 Civil Detainee - Conditions of Confinement</li> </ul>		IMMIGRATION 2 Naturalization Application 5 Other Immigration Actions		
V. ORIGIN (Place an "X" in						
		Remanded from [Appellate Court	□ 4 Reins Reop	ened Anothe	er District Litigation	
VI. CAUSE OF ACTIO	DN Magnuson-Moss Brief description of ca Defendants failed	ause: I to comply with a w	ritten or	· · ·	tutes unless diversity):	
VII. REQUESTED IN COMPLAINT:Image: Complexity of the co			EMAND \$	CHECK YES only JURY DEMAND:	if demanded in complaint: Yes D No	
VIII. RELATED CASE IF ANY	<b>E(S)</b> (See instructions):	JUDGE			DOCKET NUMBER	
DATE 04/27/2017 IX. DIVISIONAL ASSIGNMENT	Γ (Civil L R 3-7)	SIGNATURE OF AT /s/ Brian J. Soc		OF RECORD		
(Place an "X" in One Box Only)		SAN FRANCISCO/OA	KLAND	SAN JOSE E	UREKA	

AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action

## UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the

Northern District of California

ANTHONY GILBERT SANTOS, individually and on behalf of a class of similarly situated individuals,	)))))
Plaintiff(s)	)
V.	)
CARMAX, INC.; CARMAX AUTO SUPERSTORES CALIFORNIA, LLC; CARMAX BUSINESS SERVICES, LLC; CARMAX AUTO SUPERSTORES WEST COAST, INC.; DOES 1-50, INCLUSIVE	))))
Defendant(s)	)

Civil Action No.

#### SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant's name and address) CARMAX, INC., 14654 VICTORY BLVD, STE 214, VAN NUYS, CA 91411 CARMAX AUTO SUPERSTORES CALIFORNIA, LLC, 2710 GATEWAY OAKS DR STE 150N, SACRAMENTO, CA 95833 CARMAX BUSINESS SERVICES, LLC, 2710 GATEWAY OAKS DR STE 150N, SACRAMENTO, CA 95833 CARMAX AUTO SUPERSTORES WEST COAST, INC., 2710 GATEWAY OAKS DR STE 150N, SACRAMENTO, CA 95833

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ. P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff's attorney, whose name and address are: Brian J. Soo-Hoo, Esq. (SBN 228298)

soohoolaw@gmail.com LAW OFFICES OF BRIAN J. SOO-HOO 601 Parkcenter Drive, Suite 105 Santa Ana, California 92705 Tel: (714) 589-2252/Fax: (714) 589-2254

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk

AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No.

#### **PROOF OF SERVICE**

#### (This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (l))

	This summons for (nar	ne of individual and title, if ar	w)			
was ree	ceived by me on (date)		·			
	I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)					
		; or				
	□ I left the summons at the individual's residence or usual place of abode with <i>(name)</i>					
			, a person of suitable age and discretion who res	ides there,		
	on (date)	, and mailed a	copy to the individual's last known address; or			
	$\Box$ I served the summa	ons on (name of individual)		, who is		
	designated by law to	accept service of process	s on behalf of (name of organization)			
			on (date)	; or		
	□ I returned the summed the summed the summed at the summ	nons unexecuted because	e	; or		
	□ Other (specify):					
	My fees are \$	for travel and \$	for services, for a total of \$	0.00		
	I declare under penalt	y of perjury that this info	ormation is true.			
Date:		_	Server's signature			
			server s signature			
		_	Printed name and title			

Server's address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc: